Guide to Minutes These Minutes were confirmed by City Council on February 1, 2005

MINUTES OF A SPECIAL MEETING

OF THE COUNCIL OF THE

CITY OF TORONTO

NOVEMBER 29, 2004

City Council met in the Council Chamber, City Hall, Toronto.

CALL TO ORDER

S13.1 Mayor Miller took the Chair and called the Members to order.

The meeting opened with O Canada.

Council rose and observed a moment of silence and personal reflection.

S13.2 NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING

Mayor Miller advised the Council that this Special Meeting is called for the following purposes:

- (1) to consider a report dated November 24, 2004 from Mayor David Miller on a Review of the City's Administrative Structure;
- (2) to introduce and enact general Bills if necessary; and
- (3) introduce and enact a Bill to confirm the proceedings of this Special Meeting.

S13.3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

S13.4 Review of the City's Administrative Structure

City Council had before it a report dated November 24, 2004, from Mayor David Miller, entitled "Review of the City's Administrative Structure" (See Attachment 1, Page 8).

Council also had before it, during consideration of the Mayor's Report, the following communications and documentation:

- (a) (November 25, 2004) from Leo Gotlieb and Mary Baetz, Directors, Western Management Consultants (See Attachment 2, Page 21);
- (b) (undated) from Councillor Case Ootes, Toronto-Danforth (See Attachment 3, Page 25);
- (c) (November 26, 2004) from the City of Toronto Administrative, Professional Supervisory Association, Incorporated (COTAPSAI), which is on file in the City Clerk's Office;
- (d) (November 29, 2004) presentation materials, headed "City of Toronto Departmental Structure Review, Presentation to Council by Leo Gotlieb and Mary Baetz", which is on file in the City Clerk's Office;
- (e) Management Models used in the following cities, submitted by the Chief Administrative Officer, which is on file in the City Clerk's Office:
 - Halifax, Nova Scotia
 - Hamilton, Ontario
 - Montreal, Quebec
 - Ottawa, Ontario
 - Vancouver, British Columbia
 - Chicago, Illinois; and
- (f) Consultant Agreement dated June 28, 2004, between the City of Toronto and Western Management Consultants, which is on file in the City Clerk's Office.

Leo Gotlieb and Mary Baetz, Western Management Consultants, gave a presentation to the Council on the Administrative Review.

Deputy Mayor Pantalone in the Chair.

Motion:

Mayor Miller moved that Council adopt the recommendations contained in the Recommendations Section of the report dated November 24, 2004, from Mayor Miller, entitled "Review of the City's Administrative Structure".

Disposition:

As Council did not conclude its consideration of this matter prior to the end of this meeting, consideration was deferred to the next regular meeting of City Council on November 30, 2004.

BILLS AND BY-LAWS

S13.5 On November 29, 2004, at 6:28 p.m., Councillor Carroll, seconded by Councillor Moscoe, moved that leave be granted to introduce the following Bill, and that this Bill, prepared for this meeting of Council, be passed and hereby declared as a By-law, which carried:

Bill No. 1116	By-law No. 1007-2004	To confirm the proceedings of the Council at its Special meeting held on the 29th day of November, 2004 with respect to the report dated November 24, 2004, from Mayor Miller, entitled "Review of the
		City's Administrative Structure".

S13.6 MOTIONS TO VARY ORDER OR WAIVE PROCEDURE

Waive the provisions of Chapter 27 of the City of Toronto Municipal Code related to meeting times:

(a) Mayor Miller, at 6:05 p.m., moved that, in accordance with the provisions of §27-11F, Adjournment, of Chapter 27 of the City of Toronto Municipal Code, Council adjourn its meeting at 6:30 p.m., and defer consideration of the report dated November 24, 2004, from Mayor Miller, entitled "Review of the City's Administrative Structure", to its next regular meeting on November 30, 2004.

Ruling by Deputy Mayor:

Deputy Mayor Pantalone ruled that motion (a) by Mayor Miller was in order.

Councillor Walker challenged the ruling of the Deputy Mayor.

Vote to Uphold Ruling of Deputy Mayor:

Yes - 20	
Mayor:	Miller
Councillors:	Ashton, Augimeri, Carroll, Cho, Chow, Davis,
	De Baeremaeker, Di Giorgio, Feldman, Fletcher, Grimes,
	Holyday, Jenkins, Li Preti, Mihevc, Moscoe, Pantalone, Rae,
	Saundercook
No - 13	
Councillors:	Altobello, Balkissoon, Del Grande, Ford, Mammoliti,
	Minnan-Wong, Nunziata, Palacio, Shiner, Stintz, Thompson,
	Walker, Watson

Carried by a majority of 7.

Councillor Minnan-Wong requested that motion (a) by Mayor Miller be split in order to allow separate votes to be taken on the adjournment time, and on whether to consider the Mayor's Report at the November 30, 2004 meeting of Council.

Ruling by Deputy Mayor:

Deputy Mayor Pantalone ruled that splitting motion (a) by Mayor Miller into two parts would be contrary to the intent of the motion, and would not be permitted.

Councillor Shiner challenged the ruling of the Deputy Mayor:

Vote to Uphold Ruling of Deputy Mayor:

Yes - 18 Mayor: Councillors:	Miller Ashton, Augimeri, Bussin, Cho, Chow, Davis, De Baeremaeker, Di Giorgio, Fletcher, Ford, Holyday, Jenkins, Mihevc, Moscoe, Pantalone, Rae, Saundercook	
No - 16 Councillors:	Altobello, Balkissoon, Carroll, Del Grande, Feldman, Grimes, Li Preti, Mammoliti, Milczyn, Minnan-Wong, Nunziata, Palacio, Stintz, Thompson, Walker, Watson	

Carried by a majority of 2.

Vote:

Adoption of motion (a) by Mayor Miller:

Yes - 18	
Mayor:	Miller
Councillors:	Ashton, Augimeri, Bussin, Cho, Chow, De Baeremaeker,
	Di Giorgio, Fletcher, Ford, Grimes, Jenkins, Mihevc, Milczyn,
	Moscoe, Pantalone, Rae, Saundercook
No - 17	
Councillors:	Altobello, Balkissoon, Carroll, Davis, Del Grande, Feldman,
	Holyday, Li Preti, Mammoliti, Minnan-Wong, Nunziata,
	Palacio, Shiner, Stintz, Thompson, Walker, Watson

In accordance with § 27-51 of Chapter 27 of the City of Toronto Municipal Code, headed "Members Not Voting", Councillors Del Grande, Feldman, Minnan-Wong and Shiner were deemed to have voted in the negative.

Carried by a majority of 1.

S13.7 ATTENDANCE

Councillor De Baeremaeker, seconded by Councillor Holyday, moved that the absence Councillors Kelly and Ootes, from this Special Meeting of City Council, be excused, which carried.

November 29, 2004	2:10 p.m. to 6:29 p.m. *
Miller	х
Altobello	х
Ashton	х
Augimeri	х
Balkissoon	х
Bussin	х

November 29, 2004	2:10 p.m. to 6:29 p.m. *
Carroll	х
Cho	х
Chow	х
Cowbourne	Х
Davis	Х
De Baeremaeker	Х
Del Grande	Х
Di Giorgio	Х
Feldman	Х
Filion	Х
Fletcher	Х
Ford	Х
Giambrone	Х
Grimes	Х
Hall	Х
Holyday	Х
Jenkins	Х
Kelly	-
Li Preti	Х
Lindsay Luby	Х
Mammoliti	Х
McConnell	Х
Mihevc	X
Milczyn	X
Minnan-Wong	X
Moscoe	X
Nunziata	Х

November 29, 2004	2:10 p.m. to 6:29 p.m. *
Ootes	-
Palacio	х
Pantalone	х
Pitfield	х
Rae	х
Saundercook	х
Shiner	х
Soknacki	х
Stintz	х
Thompson	х
Walker	х
Watson	x
Total	43

* Members were present for some or all of the time period indicated.

Council adjourned on November 29, 2004, at 6:29 p.m.

DAVID R. MILLER, Mayor ULLI S. WATKISS, City Clerk

ATTACHMENT 1

Report dated November 24, 2004, from Mayor David Miller, entitled "Review of the City's Administrative Structure" (See Minute S13.4, Page 2):

The City's senior management structure was approved in 1998 with a focus on implementing amalgamation, maintaining public services, harmonizing service delivery methods and integrating systems and processes. This 1998 structure was recognized as a work in progress requiring periodic review and adjustment.

We have now turned the page on amalgamation and shifted our focus to City-building efforts. It is time to look at our senior management model to be sure that we have the right administrative structure to meet the City's challenges.

In May, 2004, I asked the Chief Administrative Officer to conduct a review of the City's departmental structure. Today I am making recommendations to move ahead with a new senior management model.

The recommended model places the focus on citizens – people will know who is responsible for the services being delivered and the leaders of those services will be able to work directly with the community and Council. This responds to concerns we have heard from the public during the past months.

The model also:

- increases emphasis and accountability on working together, across program areas to deliver Council's priorities;
- strengthens oversight capacity and supports the City as an order of government; and
- encourages City staff to focus on services to citizens, and sets the stage for a more innovative and nimble Toronto Public Service.

The recommended changes will be made within the following context:

- no disruption to day-to-day public service delivery;
- no change to program reporting relationships to Standing Committees at this time;
- continued focus on delivering Council's priorities;
- changes will be achieved with no upgrade in existing job classifications; and

- economies achieved in administrative, technical and other support areas will be maintained and further enhanced where possible.

Restructuring Goals

I identified six goals to guide the administrative review. These goals are based on several factors: input from citizens leading up to this term of Council and early in this term through the "Listening to Toronto" process, discussions I have had with other members of Council, and experience with the current structure.

I believe that the City needs a structure that:

- (1) facilitates residents' access to services and their engagement as citizens of Toronto;
- (2) supports the priorities of Council;
- (3) increases horizontal collaboration across the City's services and programs to implement Council's priorities;
- (4) encourages staff innovation and contribution to move to city-building;
- (5) strengthens the administration's ability to support the City as an order of government; and
- (6) gives people in charge of day to day operations the tools they need to effectively do their jobs.

Review Process

The firm of Western Management Consultants was retained to conduct two elements of the review:

(a) Data Collection and Analysis:

Interviews were conducted with the Mayor, a sample of other Council members including some who chair a Standing Committee, Special Committee or Community Council, the CAO, six Commissioners, and a cross-section of approximately 60 staff members. All were assured anonymity to ensure they felt comfortable sharing their comments candidly. The key findings and conclusions from the interviews provided a diagnostic framework for the development of models.

Staff also conducted research into management models used in other jurisdictions including Vancouver, Montreal, Ottawa, Hamilton, Halifax, Chicago, the Province of Ontario and the Federal Government. This information was provided to the external consultants.

(b) Model Review and Validation:

The external consultants provided input on the development of models based on their extensive experience with reviews of this nature, their understanding of other jurisdictions (federal, provincial, municipal) and their expertise in organizational theory and design. The consultants also offered advice on the organizational principles and criteria used for assessment. Finally, the consultants carried out a validation process for the recommended model with an assessment of its qualities and risks in light of the City's current environment and the restructuring goals. This assessment is provided under separate cover.

The CAO and I also had an opportunity to speak to people from the business, labour, and academic sectors, and from other orders of government. Their comments and experience with large scale organizational change and their advice about the City's organizational challenges provided additional guidance to the recommendations I am making in this report.

Key Findings

The external consultants identified several key findings:

Functional Issues:

- The current structure does not provide for sufficient delegation to operating services, thus creating a bottleneck and reducing the effectiveness of service delivery.
- Delegation is hampered by the view that Commissioners are wholly accountable for their departments; Council has high expectations regarding Commissioner availability and a detailed level of expertise within their portfolios.
- Lack of delegation is perceived as a lack of trust in the ability of operating services to take on more authority for day-to-day operations.
- The structure does not promote strategic direction setting or collaboration on horizontal issues; departmental priorities compete with organization-wide or interdepartmental priorities.
- Better administrative governance and compliance capacity is required, i.e., the ability to create policies, standards and procedures necessary to operate the City in accordance with Council's direction, and exercise the necessary oversight to ensure that administrative governance is respected.

- Better separation of service and compliance components is required to reduce barriers to innovation and improve service, i.e., in some areas excessive centralization is hindering innovation and service; in some areas insufficient centralization is impeding better governance.
- Affinities are in the eye of the beholder service groupings that seem natural from one perspective may not make sense from another.
- Amalgamation has made Council/Staff relations more complex the merging of services and cultures and the creation of a very large Council have resulted in difficult Council/Staff relations.

Findings from Jurisdictional Research:

Although size and service complexity differ among the cities examined, most have structural characteristics much like Toronto's:

- all have CAOs or City Managers; some have taken steps to strengthen that function;
- all use a clustering approach for management oversight, i.e., several programs reporting to a senior manager; there is no example of a totally flat structure;
- most cluster functions; none of the other jurisdictions reviewed have all public service operating functions reporting directly to the CAO;
- direct reporting relationships to the Mayor and Council are few;
- some cities have restructured internal (not direct service delivery) functions to separate governance and compliance components from transactional components; and
- some City Managers have governance and compliance functions (such as human resource policy functions, internal audit) reporting directly to them.

The Ontario Government has recently strengthened the governance capabilities of Cabinet Office by creating deputy minister positions responsible for policy, results-based planning, human resources/transformation and communications. To achieve the desired "horizontal" behaviours and to manage the Ontario Public Service as a single organization, the Ontario Government has strengthened compliance functions in central agencies.

Consultant's Summary Conclusions

The external consultants identified key improvements to achieve the City's restructuring goals. Key

improvements identified are:

- ability to innovate and take initiative;
- ability to respond quickly to new priorities or directions;
- ability to work together (across departments) on City-wide initiatives;
- ability to exercise organizational governance and compliance and take a strategic view; and
- ability to apply appropriate levels of delegation and authority in the citizen-focused services for day to day operations.

Organizational Principles

Based on the review goals, findings and conclusions, four principles were identified to guide organizational change:

	Goal Organizational Principle and Assessment Criteria		
•	Access by residents and	CITIZEN FOCUSED	
	their engagement as	• Reflects the services that are important to citizens of Toronto	
	citizens	• Is easily understood by the public	
•	Support Council priorities	• Supports the achievement of Council priorities	
		• Has strong service delivery capacity for citizen focused services	
•	Support Council priorities	EFFECTIVE BALANCE OF ADMINISTRATIVE GOVERNANCE,	
•	Support the City as an	COMPLIANCE AND DELEGATION	
	order of government	• Develops and monitors management standards, systems of checks and	
•	Increase horizontal	balances	
	collaboration	• Develops and co-ordinates corporate and inter-program policy	
•	Give people in charge of	• Supports the effective balance of decentralization to enhance	
	day-to-day operations the	innovation and centralization to ensure good administrative	
	tools to effectively do	governance	
	their jobs	• Supports the effective delegation for day-to-day provision of services	
•	Support Council priorities	STRATEGIC LEADERSHIP	
•	Support the City as an	• Enables the development of positive values, culture and behaviour	
	order of government	• Promotes strategic planning and development of long term goals	
	-	• Promotes co-ordination, collaboration and innovation across the	
		organization	
٠	Support Council Priorities	ADAPTABLE, FLEXIBLE, INNOVATIVE	
•	Increase horizontal	• Promotes effective inter-program and cross-discipline collaboration	
	collaboration	• Adapts to changing public needs and service priorities	
•	Encourage innovation and	Reduces barriers to innovation	
	contribution	• Rewards initiative and encourages the engagement of staff in their	
		work	

Chart 1: Organizational Principles

Goal	Organizational Principle and Assessment Criteria	
	• Encourages a working climate where employees know their work is valued	

Recommended Model

In consultation with the CAO and with the help of the external consultant's findings and conclusions, I am recommending the model shown here (Chart 2).

Chart 2: Recommended Model

In the early stages of the review concern was expressed that restructuring should not destabilize the organization. At the same time, people clearly expressed an openness to change and improvement. The recommended model maintains stability in front line services, and increases stability through improvements to corporate oversight activities. It re-balances the organization by properly aligning corporate control and corporate support functions together to improve administrative governance, while strengthening service delivery capacity for citizen-focused services.

Management Roles and Responsibilities

The new model requires adjustments to roles and responsibilities in some cases; in other cases reporting relationships will change. New management decision-making forums and teams will be developed to support the new structure

Role of the City Manager

The CAO's title will be changed to City Manager to better communicate the function and reflect the new model. All of the responsibilities of the current CAO position will be maintained in the City Manager's role.

A Deputy City Manager/Chief Financial Officer, and two Deputy City Managers will assist in administrative governance and oversight activities. Together, these positions will focus on delivering Council's priorities and achieving corporate objectives.

Role of Deputy City Managers

The existing Commissioner positions will be deleted.

The Deputy City Managers will not be responsible for day to day operations or program advocacy as has been the case with the current Commissioner positions. Their primary responsibilities will be to assist the City Manager in administrative governance and oversight activities, and to ensure that programs and services are working together to deliver excellent services to citizens and achieve Council's priorities.

The Deputy City Managers will:

- promote collaboration and innovation across the organization and ensure horizontal integration between programs and services to achieve Council's priorities;
- lead city-wide initiatives and projects as assigned by the City Manager;
- co-ordinate and align budgets and resources for a group of programs, to achieve Council priorities;

- undertake performance management for a group of programs;
- manage administrative, technical and other support functions to ensure economic and efficient delivery of these services. These functions are currently organized on a departmental basis, but will report to a Deputy City Manager in the new model.

Each of the Deputy City Managers will be assigned performance management and budget co-ordination responsibilities for one of the following groups:

Group A Group B Solid Waste Management Homes for the Aged **Transportation Services** Social Services Toronto Water Children's Services Fire Services Shelter, Support & Housing Admin. City Planning Parks and Recreation Building Economic Development and Culture Municipal Licensing and Standards **Emergency Medical Services**

Role of Deputy City Manager/Chief Financial Officer

Three large functions will move out of the current corporate services grouping in the recommended model: Human Resources will report directly to the City Manager; the City Clerk and the City Solicitor will continue to report directly to Council for statutory legislative and performance purposes, and will now report to the City Manager for administrative support.

These changes, and the move away from the current departmental structure, have prompted a realignment of the remaining corporate services and finance functions. The corporate services functions will report to the Deputy City Manager/Chief Financial Officer through a new position of Chief Corporate Officer. The financial transaction functions will report to the Deputy City Manager/CFO through a Treasurer position. The Treasurer will also be designated as "Treasurer" under the *Municipal Act*, 2001, S. 286(1).

In the new model, the Deputy City Manager/CFO will be freed up to focus on corporate finance, corporate financial planning and budget development. The Deputy City Manager/CFO's management team and their group of functions will be an important component of the organization's strengthened administrative governance and oversight capacity.

Role of General Managers

The Commissioner-led departmental structure will no longer be in place. The roles of the heads of citizen-focused services will be clarified. For public clarity and consistency, the nomenclature of General Manager will be used in position titles (with the exception of the Fire Chief). These positions will:

- represent their program areas at Standing Committees and Council and be responsible to Council for service objectives and results;
- sign reports to Council and answer service related questions at Standing Committees and Council;
- work with Council and the community on operational issues and be accountable for day to day operations;
- focus on operations and program stewardship;
- have delegated signing and spending authority within approved budgets, similar to that currently delegated to the General Manager, Toronto Water;
- be responsible for human resource and budget management within their programs; and
- work collaboratively together to achieve Council priorities.

A new position of General Manager of Economic Development and Culture is required because of the elimination of the departmental structure. This position will lead the current functions of economic development, tourism, and culture. Some degree of realignment will be required in the new structure.

Assessment of the Model

The model was assessed against the organizational principles set out in Section 7 (Chart 3).

Principle	Attributes of Recommended Model	
Citizen Focused	 Highlights the importance of citizen focused services through General Managers' reporting relationship to Council for service objectives and results. Titles and functions easily understood by the public especially for front line services Facilitates the General Manager level working directly with the community and Council on issues that are important to the public Clearly identifies citizen focused services apart from those that are primarily internal service driven 	
Effective Balance of Administrative Governance, Compliance and Delegation	 Effective delegation through: Enabling General Managers to report on and speak to service issues at committee and Council Delegating appropriate signing and spending authority within approved budgets to General Managers (devolution of a degree of signing and spending authorities currently assigned to Commissioners) General Managers will be the senior staff persons responsible for managing the delivery of programs Stronger administrative governance capacity through: Deputy City Manager/CFO focus on corporate finance, financial planning and budgeting rather than on transactional matters Deputy City Managers and Deputy City Manager/CFO to assist the City Manager in oversight responsibilities and the implementation of management standards, checks and balances in program areas Frees up Deputy City Managers to focus on oversight and inter-program co-ordination and integration to achieve Council's priorities, instead of day to day operations and program advocacy Direct reporting relationship for key corporate functions of Human Resources and Human Rights 	
Strategic Leadership	 Creates capacity to support the City as an order of government by establishing an administrative governance team separate from day to day operations Ability to pull together different combinations of people required for strategic thinking, long term planning and decision making Encourages input and ideas from all levels of management through de-layering and delegation of responsibility and accountability 	
Adaptable, Flexible, Innovative	 Deputy City Managers and General Managers will be accountable for working horizontally to achieve Council's priorities Flatter organization at programs is more adaptable to changing public needs Encourages openness to innovation by making General Managers directly responsible for effective and nimble service delivery 	

Chart 3: Assessment of the Model

Other Organizational Issues

During the review several additional organizational issues were raised that require further study and action. I am recommending that the Chief Administrative Officer undertake these further reviews.

Human Resources: the Human Resources function is responsible for such major issues as labour relations and the need for increased investment in staff training and development. The review pointed to the need for a more direct reporting relationship for this function to the CAO and that change is part of the recommended model. A further review of the Human Resources function is required, including the potential for separation of policy/compliance and service functions.

Human Rights Office: Earlier this year, City Council approved the Auditor General's recommendation for the Human Rights Office to report to the CAO. The Auditor General stated that "the current placement of the Human Rights Office within Human Resources Division is not commensurate with the degree of importance of this particular function, nor is it conducive to the perception of independence. In our view, locating the Human Rights Office in the Chief Administrator's Office would be more appropriate". This reporting relationship change for the Human Rights Office is part of the recommended model. The process for dealing with human rights matters will need to be adjusted to reflect this direct reporting relationship and administrative support will continue to be provided from Human Resources during the implementation phase.

Corporate Communications: the review pointed to the need for improved strategic communications and issues management capacity and I am recommending a review of the role and responsibilities of the corporate communications function with a focus on establishing this capacity in the City Manager's Office.

Affordable housing programs: Council has established a range of housing policies and programs over the past few years. More recently the federal and provincial governments have introduced new initiatives and are seeking partnership opportunities with the City of Toronto. In light of these and other developments it is appropriate for the City to develop a more integrated and results-based approach to the implementation of affordable housing policies and programs. I am recommending a review of the roles, responsibilities, and organizational location of the City's affordable housing programs including recommendations for an integrated set of affordable housing goals and administrative adjustments required to achieve the goals. The outcome of this review is to be reported to Council prior to the end of March, 2005.

Internal Corporate Services and Finance functions: One of the first priorities for the Deputy City Manager/CFO and the new management team in this area will be to align the grouping effectively. In light of the external consultant's findings, the separation of service and compliance components within the functions is essential to reduce barriers to innovation and improve service delivery.

Administrative, technical and other support functions: Administrative support and technical services are currently organized on a departmental basis as are some policy development and co-ordination functions. This model has achieved economies which must be maintained in the future. These functions will report to a Deputy City Manager in the new model, however further review is required on the provision of support and other centralized services within the new management model.

Council/Staff Relations: I am mindful that a new structure on its own will not address concerns about Council/staff relations. However, the new model presents us with an opportunity to build a mutually effective, respectful, and trusting relationship and to work together with staff to achieve our mutual goals for the City.

Employment Contracts: During the review concern was raised about the form of the employment contracts that the City uses for senior executives. I am recommending that I be authorized to retain an external legal firm to provide advice on this issue and that I report to Council with any recommended changes to the use and form of employment contracts.

Conclusions

I believe that the recommended model strengthens the City's ability to deliver public services to the citizens of Toronto and deliver on Council's priorities. It positions the administration to support the City as an order of government, and sets in motion improvements to create a better working climate for employees. I look forward to working together with all members of Council and staff to make the City an excellent and professional public service organization.

Recommendations:

It is recommended that:

- (1) the new senior management model (Chart 2), and the senior management roles and responsibilities outlined in this report be approved effective April 15, 2005;
- (2) the two positions of Deputy City Manager be filled through an open, internal/external, competitive process, administered by the Chief Administrative Officer;
- (3) the Employee and Labour Relations Committee be responsible for making recommendations to Council on the outcome of the Deputy City Manager competition, with the advice and support of the Chief Administrative Officer during the competition process;
- (4) the Chief Administrative Officer recommend to Council appropriate delegation of signing and spending authority within approved budgets to the existing General Manager level positions shown under Citizen Focused Services in Chart 2, and that these authorities be effective April 15, 2005;

- (5) responsibility be devolved to the existing General Manager level positions shown under Citizen Focused Services in Chart 2 for signing reports and representing their program areas at Standing Committees and Council, effective April 15, 2005;
- (6) the title of Chief Administrative Officer be changed to City Manager, effective April 15, 2005;
- (7) the Chief Administrative Officer be directed to review the role, responsibilities and organizational location of the City's affordable housing programs including recommendations for an integrated set of affordable housing goals and administrative adjustments required to achieve the goals and to improve the City's capacity to facilitate affordable housing opportunities for the residents of Toronto, and that the outcome of the review be reported to Council prior to the end of March, 2005;
- (8) the Chief Administrative Officer be directed to undertake reviews in the following areas and implement any resulting changes:
 - (a) Human Resources, including the potential for separation of policy/compliance and service functions;
 - (b) Corporate Communications, with a focus on establishing strategic communications and issues management capacity;
 - (c) Corporate services and finance functions, to ensure effective alignment in the new model and the separation of service and compliance components to reduce barriers to innovation and improve service delivery;
 - (d) Administrative, technical and other support services, to rationalize the provision of these services in the new model; and
 - (e) Economic Development, Culture and Tourism, functional realignment, prior to recruiting a General Manager of Economic Development and Culture;
- (9) the Mayor be authorized to retain an external legal firm to provide advice on the form and use of employment contracts used for senior staff and report back to Council on any recommended changes;
- (10) the City Solicitor be authorized to introduce the necessary bills in Council; and
- (11) the appropriate City officials be authorized and directed to take the necessary actions to give effect thereto.

ATTACHMENT 2

Communication dated November 25, 2004, from Leo Gotlieb and Mary Baetz, Directors, Western Management Consultants (See Minute S13.4, Page 2):

Dear Mayor Miller and Ms. Hoy,

As part of our mandate to assist with the review of the City's departmental structure, we have been requested to comment on the Mayor's report to Council. This letter contains our assessment, under four categories:

- General
- Risks and Challenges
- Considerations for Implementation
- Other Considerations

General

We find that in both spirit and content, the report and its recommendations are consistent with the conclusions from our work and with the strategy for restructuring that we recommended in our discussions with you. In particular, we are a strong advocate of the principle-based approach taken in this report. A set of well-founded principles creates the rationale for recommendations and the legitimacy needed for any successful change effort. As questions and issues arise during implementation, the principles form the basis for understanding, interpretation and ultimately, acceptance. We note the care taken to clearly link the principles to the Mayor's restructuring objectives (in Chart 1) and to demonstrate how they are realized by the recommendations in Chart 3.

We agree that these recommendations are the right ones for the City at this time and the report has made a solid case for them. In particular, we strongly believe in the need to adjust the balance of authorities and responsibilities among the first three levels of the administration (that is, the Chief Administrative Officer, the Commissioners and the General Manager/Executive Director level). The purpose of such a rebalancing would be twofold. First, it would strengthen the ability of the senior management team to act more strategically in support of Mayor and Council priorities and to exercise administrative oversight of the City's day-to-day operations. Second, it would enable the Divisions to deliver citizen-focused services with greater autonomy and innovative capacity. We concluded that such an approach was both necessary and desirable if the Mayor's restructuring goals (enunciated on page two and also Chart 1 of the review document) were to be realized.

Risks and Challenges

A casual observer of the organization diagram in Chart 2 might not appreciate the true nature of the change that is being advocated in this report. The lines of responsibility and authority are now clearly drawn between a group of more autonomous Divisions and a strengthened senior management team. However, insofar as it represents a significant departure from the current organization, it does contain a number of risks and challenges that will have to be addressed. In particular:

- While the citizen-focused divisions will be more autonomous, particularly with their dealings with committees and Council, it must remain clear that their accountability to Council is through the Chief Administrative Officer and the senior management team. Since the CAO alone cannot exercise the required degree of governance and management of this group, the task will by necessity fall in large part to the Deputy City Managers, even though they are no longer formally heads of Departments. We are pleased to see the report recommending that the Deputies be assigned groups of Divisions, and that they are given responsibilities for oversight and performance management in these areas (on page 7). This concept can be further developed as the recommendations are given more definition, for example, in the form of job descriptions. The roles can be clearly and explicitly stated, and then communicated so that they are understood by all stakeholders, particularly the Deputies, Division heads and Councillors.
- The new structure consolidates many of the existing Corporate Services functions under a Deputy City Manager who is also the CFO. We appreciate the rationale for this move, given that several key corporate services have moved up to the City Manager level, and note that there will be a Chief Corporate Officer dedicated to the corporate services that remain under the Deputy. We are also reminded of the original amalgamation proposal in which Corporate Services and Finance were combined as a single department (albeit under a Corporate Services Commissioner). What we wish to point out is that from a senior management team perspective, the Deputy/CFO will still be ultimately responsible for the corporate services file. This should not become an issue as long as the incumbent is someone who can exercise proper leadership and oversight of both Finance and Corporate Services portfolios.
- While the large impact of the reorganization is to increase the autonomy of the level that current reports to Commissioners, there are groups (under the Treasurer and Chief Corporate Officer) that will be an additional layer removed from the City Manager. This is more the result of the consolidation referred to in the previous point than an intention to weaken their positions. To ensure that this does not impair the ability of such groups to carry out their responsibilities in areas for which they have a corporate mandate, we recommend that the Deputy/CFO make a conscious effort to support their continued authority and counter any perception of diminished status.

- There will be a natural tendency of more autonomous Divisions to build up their administrative, technical and support functions. We note with approval that the report addresses this by assigning responsibility for such functions to the Deputies, and simply want to reinforce the point that where real economies have been achieved in these areas, they should be preserved or even expanded.

Considerations for Implementation

The need for a change management program to support this restructuring should not be underestimated. If the new structure is to be successful in achieving the goals set out by the Mayor, culture and behaviour must also change. This change would be very well supported by the following.

- The development of a new relationship between the CAO's office and the Divisions. This is essential or the now more autonomous Divisions will have a natural tendency to go their own way, even they have well-defined accountabilities to the level above them. It will not be enough for the Deputies to intervene periodically, for example, at budget time. The mechanisms for engagement between them and the Divisions must be meaningful and ongoing, and realistically, much of the initiative will need to come from the Deputies themselves.
- The evolution of appropriate working relationships between the Divisions and Committees and individual Councillors. Such relationships should not conflict with the Divisions' accountability to Council as a whole, which flows through the CAO's office. There will be a natural tendency for Councillors to work closely with certain Divisions where they have a strong interest, and conversely for Division heads to seek out Councillors where they feel they have the most support. Strong backing from Council as a whole will be required, to establish the norms for behaviour by individual Councillors and to support the role of the CAO's office in exercising proper governance over the Divisions.
- The breakdown of barriers between Divisions. It is possible that more autonomous Divisions could lead to an even greater silo culture than currently exists in the Departments. This can be offset by insistence from Council on cross-Division co-operation in pursuit of Mayor and Council priorities, by effective performance of Deputies in their integrating roles and by elimination of systemic barriers to horizontal co-operation (see next section).

Other Considerations

In our discussions and presentations to both of you, we identified a number of factors in the current environment that should be addressed independently of any reorganization. To the extent that any or all of them can be resolved in the course of implementing the recommendations on pages 12 and 13, the outcome would greatly contribute to the success of the overall effort. They include the following:

- The shortage of resources in policy and implementation functions these have been cut back repeatedly since amalgamation and we agree that most Divisions now have little reserve capacity to undertake or participate in new City-wide initiatives. A persistent lack of management development and training has also greatly reduced capacity in this area.
- The "chill" effect of MFP this and the consequent emphasis on regulatory mechanisms (auditors, fraud line) have created an organizational culture that is very risk-aversive, and thus not conducive to innovation.
- A barrier to cross-divisional co-operation that is perhaps more economic than structural or behavioural is the fact that Divisions can find themselves effectively penalized for "going corporate" that is, when they contribute resources towards corporate objectives, they are too often diminishing their ability to achieve their own objectives and service levels.
- Some way must be found to satisfy Councillors' need for access to (and information from) staff while not diverting staff too much from their tasks. As it stands, intervention by Councillors and demands for new reports continually pull senior management from the Divisions into the details of day-to-day operations. This in turn makes it very difficult for them to devote attention to the more strategic priorities established by the Mayor and Council and to ensure that their Divisions are fulfilling their overall mandates to the public. A similar drain on senior staff capacity occurs as a result of the consuming and ongoing nature of the budget process.

Conclusion

In summary, we believe that the recommendations in this report are ones that the City needs to make in order to create a renewed and positive organizational climate for the organization. With strong Council and staff support, you should be able to achieve the goals that were set out at the start of this exercise. We have enjoyed working with you and feel privileged to have been participants in an exciting process. Please feel free to call us if you wish to discuss any aspect of the above comments.

Sincerely,

Western Management Consultants of Ontario

ATTACHMENT 3

Communication (undated) from Councillor Case Ootes, Toronto-Danforth (See Minute S13.4, Page 2):

Dear Mayor Miller:

I am writing with respect to today's Council meeting on the administrative review of the City of Toronto. I am unable to attend since I am recovering at home from an operation.

I trust that you will respect all members of Council, the bureaucracy and the electorate you represent by being true to your platform of transparency at City Hall.

Most citizens are probably not interested in the specifics of the current or proposed organizational structure, but do want to ensure delivery of their services and value for their tax dollar. On the other hand, all stakeholders in the City should have an opportunity to discuss or comment on what is being proposed, especially since the report was prepared "behind closed doors".

The report should be referred to the Administration Committee for deputations and full discussion.

There should also be a full disclosure of the consultant's report. Members of Council should be fully apprised of what that report says and who was involved in the unfolding of the report, who was consulted and what comments from the "Listening to Toronto" session resulted in these specific recommendations. An initiative as important as this should involve all Members of Council.

Mr. Mayor, you ran on a platform of open government. This report has been shrouded in secrecy since you asked for it. The "finished product" was released late Wednesday at a press conference before Councillors were aware of the report.

You are also on record as to the issue of treating our employees with respect. You have not demonstrated respect for our employees, respect for other members of Council, nor stakeholders of this City, whether they be residents, business owners, organizations, etc.

Above all else, you have not demonstrated transparency which was paramount to you being elected Mayor of this City.

In your letter of May 26, 2004 you state:

"Of course final approval lies with Council and discussion of the review will be processed through the Policy and Finance Committee as part of its existing mandate to make recommendations on governance matters." I hope you will do the right thing and support a referral of the review to the Administration Committee (and/or other appropriate committees), distribute the consultant's report to all Members of Council and allow for the opportunity of a healthy and open debate. As your report indicates, this is the first step to a lot of changes. I think that all members of Council and stakeholders have an interest in ensuring that the first step is done right.

Sincerely,

Case Ootes